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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
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FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
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(to be used by counsel or pro se plaintiff to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of assignment to the appropriate calendar)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

Plaintiff,
MAUREEN CASSIDY :
Philadelphia, PA : Case No.
V. :
Defendants, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

POND LEHOCKY GIORDANO, LLP

POND LEHOCKY, LLP

CIVIL ACTION COMPLAINT

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff, Maureen Cassidy, brings this action against her former employer, Pond
Lehocky, for violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e) et seq.
(“Title VII”), the Equal Pay Act of 1963, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d) et seq. (“EPA”), the Pennsylvania
Human Relations Act, 43 Pa. Stat. § 951, ef seq. (“PHRA”), the Philadelphia Fair Practices
Ordinance, Phila. Code § 9-1100, et seq. (“PFPO”), and the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and
Collection Law, 43 Pa. Stat. §260.1 (“WPCL”).

Despite Plaintiff’s dedication and consistently excellent performance throughout her
employment, Plaintiff was discriminated against on account of her sex (female), retaliated
against for submitting complaints of sex discrimination to the Pennsylvania Human Relations
Commission, and denied compensation due and owing to her pursuant to the terms of her
contract of employment. Plaintiff seeks damages, including back-pay, front-pay, compensatory,

liquidated, punitive, attorneys’ fees and costs, and all other relief that this Court deems
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appropriate.
II. PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Maureen Cassidy is an individual and citizen of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, residing therein in Philadelphia, PA.

2. Defendant Pond Lehocky Giordano, LLP is organized under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with a principal place of business located at 2005 Market Street,
Philadelphia, PA 19103.

3. Defendant Pond Lehocky, LLP is organized under the laws of the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania with a principal place of business located at 2005 Market Street, Philadelphia,
PA 19103.

4. The operations of Defendants are substantively integrated and consolidated.

Without limitation, and by way of example:

a. Defendants share common leadership;

b. Defendants collectively and individually do business under the trade name
“Pond Lehocky™;

c. Defendants have each issued Plaintiff appropriate year-end tax documents;

d. Defendants share a common principal place of business located at 2005

Market Street, Philadelphia, PA 19103;
e. Defendants issue press releases and other marketing-related materials that
refer to Pond Lehocky as a single enterprise of which Defendants are each
a part;
5. At all times material hereto, Plaintiff was an employee of Defendants within the

meaning of the statutes which form the basis of this matter.
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6. At all times material hereto, Defendants were an employer of Plaintiff within the
meaning of the statutes which form the basis of this matter.

7. At all times material hereto, Defendants employed more than fifteen (15) people.

8. At all times material hereto, Defendants acted by and through their authorized
agents, servants, workmen, and/or employees within the course and scope of their employment
with Defendants and in furtherance of Defendants’ business.

III.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. The causes of action set forth in this Complaint arise under Title VII, the EPA, the
PHRA, the PFPO, and the WPCL.

10.  The District Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Count I (Title VII) and
Count II (EPA) pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331

11. The District Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Count III (PHRA), Count
IV (PFPO), and Count V (WPCL) pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

12. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

13. On or about June 18, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Complaint of Discrimination with the
Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission (PHRC), complaining of the various acts of
discrimination alleged herein. Plaintiff’s Complaint of Discrimination was dual-filed with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. Attached hereto, incorporated herein, and marked
as Exhibit “A” is a true and correct copy of the June 18, 2020 Complaint of Discrimination (with
minor redactions for purposes of electronic filing of confidential/identifying information).

14. On or about November 5, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Second Complaint of
Discrimination with the PHRC, complaining of the various acts of discrimination and retaliation

alleged herein. Plaintiff’s Second Complaint of discrimination was dual-filed with the Equal
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Employment Opportunity Commission. Attached hereto, incorporated herein, and marked as
Exhibit “B” is a true and correct copy of the November 5, 2020 Complaint of Discrimination
(with minor redactions for purposes of electronic filing of confidential/identifying information).

15. Plaintiff’s PHRC Complaints of Discrimination were each assigned PHRC Case
No. 201904783 and EEOC No. 17F202061308.

16. On January 10, 2022, the EEOC issued Plaintiff a Notice of Dismissal and Right
to Sue. Attached hereto as “Exhibit C” is a true and correct copy of that notice.

17. On February 17, 2022, the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission informed
Plaintiff that more than one (1) year had passed since the filing of her Complaint of
Discrimination, advising her that she had the right to bring an action in the appropriate Court of
Common Pleas based on the alleged violations of the PHRA.

18. Plaintiff is filing this complaint within ninety (90) days from her receipt of the
EEOC’s Notice of Dismissal and Right to Sue.

19.  Plaintiff has fully complied with all administrative pre-requisites for the
commencement of this action.

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

20.  Plaintiff was hired by Defendants in or about December 2015.

21.  Plaintiff held the position of Coverage Attorney in Defendants’ workers’
compensation department.

22.  As a Coverage Attorney in Defendants’ workers’ compensation department,
Plaintiff’s job duties and responsibilities included, but were not limited to, providing various

forms of litigation support to cases assigned to Handling Attorneys and Partners.
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23. At the time of her termination, Plaintiff reported to Sam Pond (male), Defendants’
Managing Partner.

24. Plaintiff consistently performed her job duties in a highly competent manner and
received positive feedback on her performance.

25. During Plaintiff’s employment with Defendants, six (6) out of the seven (7)
Handling (first chair) Attorneys in the Defendants’ workers’ compensation department were
male.

26.  During Plaintiff’s employment with Defendants, all of Defendants’ Partners were
male and none were female.

27. On April 9, 2019, Alexis Handrich (female) vacated her position as Handling
Attorney in Defendants’ workers’ compensation department.

28. On April 11, 2019, in a conversation with David Stern (male), then Partner,
Plaintiff asked to be promoted to the Handling Attorney position that had been vacated by
Handrich.

29. On April 12, 2019, Defendants failed to promote Plaintiff to the vacant Handling
Attorney position.

30.  Instead of promoting Plaintiff to Handling Attorney, Defendants promoted Conor
Shields (male).

31.  Plaintiff was qualified for the Handling Attorney position, as she had been the
Coverage (second chair) Attorney for Handrich and was familiar with her cases.

32. Plaintiff was more qualified than Shields for the Handling Attorney position
vacated by Handrich.

33. The Handling Attorney position vacated by Handrich was not posted.
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34, Plaintiff had no opportunity to formally apply for the vacant Handling Attorney
position.

35. Following Shields’ promotion to Handling Attorney, Plaintiff repeatedly
expressed her desire to Defendants to be promoted to Handling Attorney.

36. Plaintiff was never promoted to Handling Attorney.

37. Defendants treated male attorneys better, and in a more preferential manner, than
it treated female attorneys, including Plaintiff.

38.  Defendants provided male attorneys, including Taylor Cohen (male), Coverage
Attorney, and Nick Liermann (male), Coverage Attorney, with cases, mentoring, greater access
to interactions with Partners, and career advancement and networking opportunities that Plaintiff
was not offered or provided.

39. Defendants compensated Plaintiff at a rate less than the rate at which it
compensated male attorneys of similar background, qualifications, and experience.

40.  Defendants compensated Plaintiff at a rate less than the rate at which it
compensated male Attorneys for work which required equal skill, effort, and responsibility
performed under similar working conditions.

41.  For example, and without limitation, Defendants gave Cohen significant
compensation incentives to work for Defendants, including the promise of a promotion to

Handling Attorney and a lump sum payment of $50,000.

42. On numerous occasions, Pond made comments about Plaintiff’s appearance and
clothing.
43. To Plaintiff’s knowledge, Pond never commented on the appearance or clothing

of male attorneys.
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44. In or about January 2020, in separate meetings with Pond and Thomas Giordano
(male), Partner, Plaintiff again asked to be promoted to Handling Attorney.

45. In response to her January 2020 request to be promoted to Handling Attorney,
Plaintiff received positive performance feedback, but no indication that she would be promoted.

46. In or about February 2020, Plaintiff was instructed to train certain male attorneys
to perform the job duties of a Coverage Attorney.

47. Specifically, and by way of example, Plaintiff trained Anthony DiAngelo and
Joseph Squadroini on medical deposition techniques and taking client testimony.

48. On March 20, 2020, on a phone call with Giordano, Plaintiff was placed on
“furlough.” The stated reason for Plaintiff being placed on “furlough” was the COVID-19
pandemic.

49. Giordano told Plaintiff that she was not being terminated and that she would be
brought back to work ““as soon as possible.”

50. Defendants placed on “furlough” eight (8) of the ten (10) female Coverage
Attorneys in the workers’ compensation department.

51. Defendants retained six (6) of the nine (9) male Coverage Attorneys in the
workers’ compensation department.

52. On May 6, 2020, Defendants terminated Plaintiff’s employment, effective May
31, 2020.

53. Defendants terminated eight (8) of the ten (10) female Coverage Attorneys in the
workers’ compensation department.

54.  Defendants retained six (6) of the nine (9) male Coverage Attorneys in the

workers’ compensation department.
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55. Defendants retained at least five (5) male Attorneys in positions for which
Plaintiff was more qualified and who had less service time with Defendants than Plaintiff.
56. Defendants did not terminate any Handling Attorneys, six (6) of the seven (7) of

whom were male.

57. Plaintiff had no performance or disciplinary issues during her employment with
Defendants.
58. Pursuant to the terms of her contract of employment with Defendants, Plaintiff

was entitled to compensation in connection with three (3) different categories of cases: (1)
“referral credit cases™; (2) “Stern cases”; and (3)“JYD cases.”

59. “Referral credit cases” were cases where Plaintiff was responsible for generating
the client for Defendants. Pursuant to the terms of her contract of employment with Defendants,
Plaintiff was entitled to 20% of Defendants’ attorney fee on these cases.

60. “Stern cases” were a sub-category of “referral credit case” that had left
Defendants’ firm with former partner David Stern. Pursuant to the terms of her contract of
employment with Defendants, Plaintiff was entitled to 20% of Defendants’ attorney fee on these
cases.

61.  “JYD cases” were cases where the prospective client of Defendants had been
rejected or was unable to be successfully contacted. Pursuant to the terms of her contract of
employment with Defendants, if Plaintiff successfully converted these individuals into clients of
Defendants, she was entitled to 10% of Defendants’ attorney fee on those cases.

62. At the time of her termination, Plaintiff was owed compensation for “referral

credit cases”, “JYD cases”, and also “Stern cases”.
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63. On May 9, 2020, Pond stated the following to Plaintiff in an email regarding her
“referral credit cases”: “Please note that any fees earned, and not yet paid, prior to through May
31, 2020, pursuant to your employment agreement, will be paid by June 5, 2020. In addition,
despite some contrary language in the employment agreement, we will honor your right to
a twenty-percent (20%) fee in any case where you have been identified as the credit
attorney in an ongoing basis.” Pond stated: “[ A]ny cases that you brought in as your credit will
be honored. Also, we will honor as your credit, anyone referred by one of your clients.”

64. On May 16, 2020, in an email to Pond, Plaintiff asked the following: “Just to
clarify - I will be entitled to ongoing fees for cases where I am the credit attorney after June 5,
2020, correct? How will those be paid? I assume this includes the few remaining JYD cases I
have left as well. Anything with the cases that went with Dave [Stern] where I am the credit
attorney? There were two.”

65. On May 16, 2020, in an email from Pond, he stated that Plaintiff “would get paid
monthly” for her referral credit cases. He stated: “The referral fees have no time limit. Not sure
what you are referring to in ref the JYD cases? Are they your credit? We will honor the cases
stern took but I need the names — do you know them? otherwise I’ll get them.”

66. On May 16, 2020, in emails to Pond, Plaintiff provided a list of cases for which
she was owed compensation, and confirmed that she was also owed compensation for certain
JYD cases.

67. On May 19, 2020, Plaintiff was provided with a “list of [referral] credit cases
where [Plaintiff] ha[s] been or will be paid fees.”

68. The list provided to Plaintiff on May 19, 2020 showed that Plaintiff was owed

fees in twelve (12) of the fourteen (14) cases that she had identified to Pond on May 16, 2020.
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69. On May 19, 2020, Plaintiff provided Defendants with a list of additional cases for
which she was owed fees.

70. On May 21, 2020, Plaintiff requested an updated list of the cases for which she
was owed fees.

71. On May 21, 2020, in an email to Thomas Giordano, Jr. (male), Founding Partner,
Plaintiff stated that she had not received a response to her May 19 and May 21 emails wherein
she requested an updated list of the cases for which she was owed fees.

72. On May 22, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated the following: “We
actually spoke about this very topic yesterday. Bryan and his team are going to be reviewing the
case names you provided and make sure whatever we owe you will be paid.”

73. On May 31, 2020, in emails to Pond, Plaintiff provided a list of cases for which
she was owed fees that were not previously identified by Defendants. In her May 31 emails to
Pond, she stated, “After I sent the list of cases of credits I have, Jen Heinz sent a list back that
was missing the JYD’s and one other case. I simply have been asking for an updated list of all
the cases so I can get confirmation that I will receive credits for all of them and not just those on
the list that Jen Heinz sent me.”

74. On June 3, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated: ... any [Maureen] Morty
Cassidy referred cases (known as your ‘credit’ cases) that are in Pond Lehocky’s inventory will
be paid on an as-received bases at 20% of the net attorney fee.”

75. In Giordano’s June 3 email he outlined cases, credit, and calculations, and stated:
“Based on the above, we felt it was more than fair to pay you a lump sum of $10,125 as full and
final payment for the Stern cases and JYD cases. We have decided to pay you this now instead

of waiting to see if those cases are even awarded or settled. Its [sic] very possible that there

10
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would be no fee in any of those cases and we did not even other factors such as low comp rates,
Judge assignments, etc. I do however want to be clear that this is it for everything that may or
may not be outstanding to you that is not a clear cut, Morty Cassidy referral to the Firm. Does
that make sense? Please let me know if you have any questions about this because in
consideration of the $10,125.00 we would expect a fully executed release.”

76. On June 4, 2020, in an email to Giordano, Plaintiff stated that, according to her
calculations, she was owed approximately $17,630 for just her JYD and Stern credit cases for
May 2020.

77. On June 5, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated that Defendants were “not
negotiating,” and that Defendants “feel” that $10,125 “is beyond fair and more than what
[Defendants] ha[ve] to do.”

78. On or about June 7, 2020, Plaintiff received a check for $1,862.98, representing a
portion of the referral credit fees she was owed on cases between March and May 2020.

79. On June 18, 2020, Plaintiff filed her first Complaint of Discrimination with the
PHRC.

80.  Following the filing of her first Complaint of Discrimination, Plaintiff received no
further payments on any cases in which she was identified as the credit attorney, despite
Defendants’ previous statement that fees in such cases received by Defendants would be paid to
her on an ongoing basis.

81. On September 16, 2020, in an email to Giordano, Plaintiff followed up regarding
additional fees that she was owed by Defendants.

82. On September 16, 2020, in a response email from Giordano, he stated that he had

forwarded Plaintiff’s email to Defendants’ attorney.

11
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83. On October 14, 2020, in an email to Giordano, Plaintiff again followed up on the
fees that she was owed by Defendants.

84. On October 15, 2020, in a response email from Giordano, he stated the following:
“[W]e will forward your email to our counsel. As you have filed a lawsuit against us, I suggest
that you direct all communications for our Firm through your attorney.”

85. On October 28, 2020, in an email to Giordano Plaintiff stated the following: “This
is money that is owed to me, which I was told would be paid to me, and to not pay it is a
violation of the PA Wage Payment and Collection Law. Demand is made under that law, via this
email, to pay the money to me immediately. To not pay me the money because I filed a sex
discrimination claim with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission is unlawful
retaliation.”

86. At the present time, there remains due and owing to Plaintiff significant portions
of the compensation due to her under the terms and conditions of her contract of employment
with Defendants.

87.  Plaintiff’s sex (female) was a motivating and/or determinative factor in
Defendants’ discriminatory treatment of her, including her lower rate of compensation, failing to
promote her to the position of Handling Attorney, placing her on furlough status, terminating her
employment, and failing to pay her fees to which she was entitled pursuant to the terms and
conditions of her contract of employment with Defendants.

88. The filing of Plaintiff’'s Complaints of Discrimination with the PHRC and
Plaintiff’s October 28, 2020 Complaint to Giordano regarding Defendants violations of the

WPCL were each motivating and or determinative factors in Defendants’ retaliatory conduct of

12
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refusing to pay to Plaintiff fees to which she was entitled pursuant to the terms of her contract of
employment with Defendants.

89. As a direct and proximate result of the discriminatory and retaliatory conduct of
Defendants, Plaintiff has in the past incurred, and may in the future incur, a loss of earnings
and/or earning capacity, loss of benefits, pain and suffering, embarrassment, humiliation, loss of
self-esteem, mental anguish, and loss of life’s pleasures, the full extent of which is not known at
this time.

90. Despite its contractual obligation to compensate Plaintiff for her “referral credit

cases”, “JYD cases”, and “Stern cases”, Defendants have failed to compensate Plaintiff

accordingly.
COUNT 1
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII)
91.  Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference the paragraphs set forth above as if set

forth herein in their entirety.

92. Defendants have violated Title VII by committing the foregoing acts of
discrimination and retaliation.

93. Defendants intentionally discriminated and retaliated against Plaintiff because of
her sex and her complaints of sex discrimination and retaliation, including with respect to her
rate of compensation, failing to promote her to Handling Attorney, placing her on furlough
status, terminating her employment, and failing to pay her compensation due and owing to her
pursuant to her contract of employment with Defendants.

94.  Defendants acted with malice and/or reckless indifference toward the federally

protected rights of Plaintiff and its conduct warrants the imposition of punitive damages.

13
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95. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Title VI, Plaintiff has
suffered the damages and losses set forth herein.

96. Plaintiff is now suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury and
monetary damages as a result of Defendants’ discriminatory and retaliatory acts unless and until
this Court grants the relief requested herein.

97. No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

COUNT 11
Equal Pay Act of 1963 (EPA)

98.  Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference the paragraphs set forth above as if set
forth herein in their entirety.

99.  Defendants have violated the EPA by committing the foregoing acts of
discrimination and pay inequity against Plaintiff.

100. At all relevant times, Defendants compensated Plaintiff (female) at a rate less than
the rate at which it compensated employees of the opposite sex (male) for equal work requiring
equal skill, effort, and responsibility performed under similar working conditions.

101. Defendants’ violations of the EPA were not carried out in good faith and
Defendants did not have reasonable grounds for believing that its conduct did not amount to a
violation of the law, thus warranting the imposition of liquidated damages.

102.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the EPA, Plaintiff has
suffered the damages and losses set forth herein.

103.  Plaintiff is now suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury and
monetary damages as a result of Defendant’s discriminatory and retaliatory acts unless and until
this Court grants the relief requested herein.

104. No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

14
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COUNT 111
Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (PHRA)

105.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint, as
if fully set forth herein.

106. Defendants have violated the PHRA by committing the foregoing acts of
discrimination and retaliation.

107. Defendants intentionally discriminated and retaliated against Plaintiff because of
her sex and her complaints of sex discrimination and retaliation, including with respect to her
rate of compensation, failing to promote her to Handling Attorney, placing her on furlough
status, terminating her employment, and failing to pay her compensation due and owing to her
pursuant to her contract of employment with Defendants.

108. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the PHRA, Plaintiff
has suffered the damages and losses set forth herein.

109. Plaintiff is now suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury and
monetary damages as a result of Defendants’ discriminatory and retaliatory acts unless and until
this Court grants the relief requested herein.

110.  No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

COUNT 1V
Philadelphia Fair Practices Ordinance (PFPO)

111. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint, as
if fully set forth herein.
112. Defendants have violated the PFPO by committing the foregoing acts of

discrimination and retaliation.

15
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113. Defendants intentionally discriminated and retaliated against Plaintiff because of
her sex and her complaints of sex discrimination and retaliation, including with respect to her
rate of compensation, failing to promote her to Handling Attorney, placing her on furlough
status, terminating her employment, and failing to pay her compensation due and owing to her
pursuant to her contract of employment with Defendants.

114. Defendants’ violations were done with malice and/or reckless indifference and
warrant the imposition of punitive damages.

115. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the PFPO, Plaintiff
has suffered the damages and losses set forth herein.

116. Plaintiff is now suffering and will continue to suffer irreparable injury and
monetary damages as a result of Defendants’ discriminatory and retaliatory acts unless and until
this Court grants the relief requested herein.

117. No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

COUNT V
Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law (WPCL)

118.  Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference the above paragraphs as if set forth
herein in their entirety.

119. Pursuant to the terms of her contract of employment with Defendants, there
remains due and owing to Plaintiff portions of the fees to which she was entitled in connection
with her “referral credit cases”, “JYD cases”, and “Stern cases.”.

120. By refusing to compensate Plaintiff pursuant to her contract of employment,
Defendants have deprived Plaintiff of compensation which she earned and to which she is

entitled.

16
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121.  Defendants failed to compensate Plaintiff within thirty (30) days of when the fees
and compensation described herein became due and owing to her under her contract of
employment with Defendants.

122.  Defendants’ conduct is in violation of the WPCL.

123.  Defendants had no good-faith basis to refuse to pay her the fees and compensation
described herein to which she was entitled pursuant to her contract of employment with
Defendants.

124. As a result of Defendants’ conduct and violations of the WPCL, Plaintiff is
entitled to an award of liquidated damages in an amount equal to Twenty-Five percent (25%) of
the total amount owed to Plaintiff.

125.  Plaintiff is entitled to attorneys’ fees and costs as mandated by the WPCL

126. No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in favor of

Plaintiff, Maureen Cassidy, and against Defendants:

a) declaring the acts and practices complained of herein to be in violation of Title
VII;

b) declaring the acts and practices complained of herein to be in violation of the
EPA;

C) declaring the acts and practices complained of herein to be in violation of the
PHRA;

d) declaring the acts and practices complained of herein to be in violation of the
PFPO;

17
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e) declaring the acts and practices complained of herein to be in violation of the
WPCL

f) enjoining and restraining permanently the violations alleged herein;

g) awarding damages to Plaintiff for the past and future economic losses that she has
suffered;

h) awarding compensatory damages to Plaintiff for past and future emotional upset,

mental anguish, humiliation, loss of life’s pleasures, and pain and suffering;
1) awarding punitive damages to Plaintiff;

1) awarding liquidated damages to Plaintiff pursuant to the WPCL and the EPA.

k) awarding Plaintiff the costs of this action, together with reasonable attorney’s
fees;
1) granting such other and further relief as this Court deems appropriate.
CONSOLE MATTIACCI LAW, LLC
Dated: March 22, 2022 BY:

Daniel S. Orlow, Esq.

1525 Locust Street, 9" Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19102

(215) 545-7676

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Maureen Cassidy

18



Case 2:22-cv-01102-MSG Document 1 Filed 03/22/22 Page 22 of 41

Exhibit A



Case 2:22-cv-01102-MSG Document 1 Filed 03/22/22 Page 23 of 41

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
GOVERNOR’S OFFICE
PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

COMPLAINT

COMPLAINANT:
MAUREEN CASSIDY : Docket No.

V.

2012 el 14 3

RESPONDENT:

POND LEHOCKY GIORDANO LLP

1. The Complainant hercin is:

Name: Maurcen Cassidy

o -

2. The Respondent herein is:
Name: Pond Lehocky Giordanp LLP
Address: 2005 Market Street, 3rd Floor
Philadelphia. PA 19103
3. . Maurcen Cassidyv. the Complainant herein. aliege that 1 was subjected to unlawful

discrimination because of my sex (female), as sct forth below:
_ Discrimination
AL I specifically allege:
U I was hired by Respondent in or about December 2015:
12] I consistently performed my job duties in a highly competent manner and

received positive performance feedback.
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3] 1 held the position of Coverage Auorney in the Worker's Compensation
Depuartment.

{4} I ast reported to Samuel Pond (male), Managing l;armer.

(5} Respondent has an underrepresentation of female Al‘tomc,vs, particularly

in high-level positions.

(6] All of Respondent’s Partners are male and nonc are fomale.
171 - Out of Respondent’s seven (7) Handling (first chair) Attorneys in the

Worker's Compensation Department, six (6) are male and one (1) is female.

18] - On April 9. 2019. Alexis Handrich (female) stepped down and/or was
pushed out as the only female Handling Attorney.

191 On April 11,2019, in a conversation with David Stern (male). then
Partner. | asked 1o be.promoted to Handling Attorney.

110} On April 12,2019, Respondent failed to pmmc;te me to the open Handling
Auorney position. | was qualified for the position, as | had been the Coverage (second chair)
Atorney for Handrich and was familiar with her cases. Insiead of promoting me, Respondent
promoted Conor Shiclds (malc). | was more qualificd for the positiﬁn than Shiclds. | had no
opportunity to apply for the open !—!andlin'g Attorney position because the position was not
posted. [[the position was posted. | would have applied for the position.

[} Respondent provided no explanation, including the selection criteria. as to

. why Respondent promoted a less qualified, male employee instead of promoting me.

112} Respondent failed to promote me to Handling Attorney because of my sex.
113} | repeatedly expressed my desire 10 be promoted 1o Handling Attorney.

{14] Respondent repeatedly failed to promote me to Handling Auorney.
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[15] Respondent repeatedly failed to promote me to Handling Attorney because
ol my sex.

[16] Respondent provided male Autorneys. including Taylor Cohen (malc).
Coverage Atorney, and Nick Liermann (male), Coverage Attorney. with cascs, mentoring,
greater access 10 interactions with Partners, and carcer advancement and networking
opportunitics that | was not offered or provided.

[171 Respondent treated male Anomeys betier. and in a more preferential
manncr, than Respondent treated female Attorneys, including me.,

[18] Respondent gave Cohen significant incentives, including a promise of
promotion to Handling Attorney and a lump sum of $50,000.

| 19] | Respondent did not give me signiticant incentives. inciuding a promisc of
promotion to Handling Attorney: or a lump sum of $50.000, despite my being more qualified than
Cohen.

{20} Respondemt failed 1o give me significant incentives, including a promise
of promotion 1o Handling Attorney and a lump sum olfSSOﬁO()_. because of my sex.

12t]  Respondent failed to compeﬁsalc me as much as it compensated male
Auorneys hecause of my sex.

(22} On numerous occasions. Pond made comments about my appearance and
my clothes. | never heard Pond comment on mule Attormeys™ appearance or clothes.

f23) In or about January 2020. in separate meetings with Pond and Thomas
Giordano (male), Partner. | again asked o be promoted to Handling Auorney. | received
positive performance feedback but no indication that 1 would be promoted.

24} Respondent failed 1o promote me to Handling Attorney because of my sex.
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[25] In or about Fehruary 2020, 1 was instructed to train ¢ertain ﬁmlc Attorneys
o do my job dwies.

J26] On March 20, 2020. on a phone call with Giordano, Respondent placed
me on “furlough.” The stated reason was the C‘.O\'ID-IOIpamdemic. Giordano told me that | was

not being terminated and that | would be brought buck to work at Respondent “as soon as

possible.”
- 127] Respondent placed me on “furlough™ because of my sex.
[28] Respondent placed on “turlough™ eight (8) of the ten (10) female

Coverage Attorneys in the Worker's Compensation Depariment.

[29] Respondent retained six (6) of the nine (@) male Coverage Attorneys in the
Warker®s Cmnpcnsmion Department.

{30] chsmndcm provided no explanation. including the sclection criteria, as to
why I was placed on “furlough™ and less qualiticd, male employees were not.

[31] On May 6. 2019, on a videoconference with Pand, Giordano, Jerry
Lehacky (male), Partner, Jackie Donovan (female), Chief Operating Officer, Sean Lehocky
(male). Chief Strategy Officer. Bryan Reilly (male). Chicef Financial Officer, Corrine Bolaitos
(tfematle), Chiet Marketing Ofticer, and Jennifer Heinz (female). Chict Human Resources
OlTicer. Respondeni terminated my employment, effective May 31. 2020. Respondent provided
no explanation. including the selection criteria, as to why | was terminated and numerous less

qualitied, male employees were retained.

{32} Respondent terminated my emplovment because of my sex.
[33] Respondent terminated eight (8) of the ten (10) female Coverage

Auaorneys in the Worker’s Compensation Department.
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{34] Respondent retained six (6) of the nine (9) male Coverage Attorneys in the
Worker's Comipensation Department.

{35} | was mare qualificd than male Coverage Anornéys who were retained.
36§ Respondent retained at least five (3) male Attomeys in positions for which
I was more qualified and who had less service time with Respondent than | had.

(37 Respondent did not terminate any Handling Atomeys—six (6) of the

seven (7) of whom were male.

[38] | had no performance or disciplinary issues during my employment with
Respondent. . » .
[39] Female Attorneys at Respondent have told me that they believe that there

is sex discrimination against temale Attorneys at Respondent.
[40] -~ Respondent’s sex discriminatory conduct toward me has caused me

emotional distress.

141] Respondent’s comments and conduct cvidence a bias against female
cmployees.
C{42] I bring this Complaint as a class and pattern and practice Complaint

on behalf of myself and any and all current or former employees of Respondent who are
female, and Ilil\;(: been discriminated against based on sex, in connection with failure to be
promoted, compensation. “furlough.” termination, and being subjeeted to a hostile work
environment.

B. Based on the aforementioned. | allege ilazll Respondent has diseriminated against
me because of my sex ({female), in violation of Fitle VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as

amended. 42 US.C. § 2000¢, er seq. (“Title VI, the Equal Pay Act, 29 US.C. § 206 ¢r seq.
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(EPAT). the I’cnns_\-lvzinia Human Relations Act, as amended. 43 P.S. § 951, ¢t seq. ("PHRA™),
and the Philadelphia Fair Praciices Ordinance. Phila. Code § 9-1101, ¢r seq. (“PFPO™).
4. The allegations in Paragraph 3 hereof constitute unlawful discriminatory and
relu.li:uor,\' practices in violation of}
_X_  Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (Act of October 27, 1955, P.L.
744, as amended) Section § Subsection(s): _{a)

Section 5.1 Subsection(s)

Section 3.2 Subsection(s)

Pennsyivania Fair Educational Opportunities Act (Actof July 17. 1961,

P, 766, as amended) Section 4 Subsection(s)

!_Jl

Other action based upon the atoresaid allegations has bcen instituted by tﬁc
Complainant in any court or before any other commission within the Commonwealth of
Pennsvivania as follows:
X This charge will be referred to the EFQC for the purpose of dual
filing.
6. The Complainant prays that Respondent be required to:
(a) Make the Complainant whole.
(b) Climinate alt unlawful discriminatory and retaliatory practice(s) and procedure(s).
{¢) Remedy the discriminaory and retaliatory ellect of past practice(s) and
procedure(s).
(d) Take further affimmative action necessary and appropriate to remedy the violation
cmnplaine& of herein.

(¢) Provide such funther relief as the Commission deems necessary and appropriate.
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VERIFICATION

1 hc_rrb_f verify that the ststements contained in thic complalnt are True and correct 1o the
best of my Lsnowledge. information, and belief. Tunderstand that false statements ﬁgmln are
- made subject to the penalties of 13 P.A.C.A. Section 4904, relating to unsworm falsification to

-~ -

euﬁaoriﬁ&s. '." . M . N c ~ ..'.

(1773020 ) JALA [,.(Lv-/;/

{Date Signed) - (Signature) - Maursen Cnssi?'.i
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Received

NOV 05 2020
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
GOVERNOR'S OFFICE Philadelphia Regional Officc

PA Human Relations Commission |

PENNSYLVANIA HUMAN RELATIONS COMMISSION

SECOND COMPLAINT

COMPLAINANT:

MAUREEN CASSIDY | DocketNo. 701G o 47 %3
VY.

RESPONDENT:

POND LEEHOCKY GIORDANO L1P

I. The Complainant herein is:

Name: Maureen Cassidy

2. The Respondent herein is:
Name: Pond Lehocky Giordano LLP
Address: 2005 Market Street, 3rd Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103

3. 1. Maureen Cassidv, the Complainant herein. allege that | was subjected to untawtul

discrimination because of my sex (female) and unlawful retaliation because of my sex
discrimination complaints, as set forth bejow,

Discrimination and Retaliation

A. 1specifically aliege:
{1] On May 9, 2020, in an email from Samuel Pond (male), Managing

Partner. via Jennifer Heinz (female). Chief Human Resources Officer, he stated the following:
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“Please note that any fees earned, and not yet paid, prior to through May 31, 2020, pursuant to
your employment agreement, will be paid by June 5. 2020. In addition, despite some contrary
Ianguage in the employment agreement, we will honor your right to a twenty-percent
(20%) fee in.any case where you have been identified as the credit attorney in an ongoing
basis.” He stated: “|Any cases that you bmught in as your credit will be honored. Also, we will
honor as your credit, anyone referred by one of your clients.”

{2} On May 16, 2020, in an email to Pond and Heinz. [ asked the following:
“Just to clarify- Twill be entitled 10 ongoing fees for cases where I am the credit attorney after
June 5, 2020, correct? How will those be paid? | assume this includes the few remaining JYD
cases 1 have left as well. Anything with the cases that went with Dave [Stern] where 1 am the
credit attorney? There were two.”

i3] 1 was owed tees in three types of cases: referral credit cases; JYD cases;
and Stern cases.

{41 On May 16, 2020, in an email from Pond. he stated that 1 “would get paid
monthly” for my referral credit cases. He stated: “The referral fees have no time limit. Not sure

b

what you are referring to in ref the JYD cases? Are they your credit? We will honor the cases

I5] On May 16. 2020, in emails to Pond, 1 provided the list of cases in which |
was owed fees. and confirmed that the JYD cases were also my credit.

[6] On May 19, 2020, in an email from Heinz, she provided me with a “list of
credit cases where | 1] have been or will be paid fees.™ ;l‘he list showed that | was owed fees in

twelve (12) of the fourteen {14) cases.
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{71 On May 19, 2020, in a response email to Heinz, | responded with a list of
additional cases for which I was owed [ees,

18] On May 21, 2020, in an email to Heinz. I requested an updated list of the
cases for which [ was owed fees.

(9] On May 21, 2020, in an email to Thomas Giordano, Jr. (male), Founding
dartner, | stated that 1 had not received a response to my above emails and requested an updated
list of the cases for which I was owed fees.

On May 22, 2020, in an email from Giordano, copying Bryan Reilly

L10]
(male), Chiel Finjlancial OfTicer, he stated the following: “We actually spoke about this very topic
yesterday. Bryan and his team are going to be reviewing the case names you provided and make
sure whatever we owe you will be paid.” |

(1 On May 29, 2020, in an email from Matthew Palmer (male). Senior
Financial Analyst, in response to my follow-up email to him regarding payment of the fees that |
was owed, he stated he would get back to me next week. and that he had “been reviewing the
f;es owed and wlould] be sending out a check in early June.”

[12} On May 29, 2020, in an email from Pond. he stated that he hcarAd I was not
receiving responses to my emails, and told me to let him know how he could help.

[13] On May 31. 2020, in emails to Pond, 1 stated the following and provided a
list of cases for which I am owed fees that were not included on Respondent’s initial list of my
credit cases: “After [ sent the list of cases of credits | have, Jen Heinz sent a list back that was
;1-1issj11g the YYD s and one other case. | s;iuﬁply have been asking for an updated list of all the
cases so | can get confirmation that | will receive credits for all of them and not just those on the

list that Jen Heinz sent me.”
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{14] On May 31, 2020, in an email response from Pond, he told me that he
would look into these cases.

[15] On June 3, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated: “First and
foremost, any [Maureeﬁ] Morty Cassidy referred cases (known as your “credit’ cases) that are in
Pond Lehocky’s inventory will be paid on an as-received bases at 20% of the net attorney fee.”
H'e outlined cases, credit, and calculations, and stated: “Based on the above, we felt it was more
than fair to pay yvou a lump sum of $10.125 as full and final payment for the Stern cases and JYD
~cases. We have decided to pay you this now instead of waiting to see if‘rhose cases arg even
awarded or settled. lts [sic] very possible that there would be no fee in any.of those cases and we
did not even other factors such as low comp rates. Judge assignments, ete. 1 do however want to
be clear that this is it for everything that may or may not be outstanding to you that is not a clear
cut, Mort_y Cassidy referral to the Firm, Does that make sense”?  Please let me know if you have
any questions about this because in consideration of the $10,125.00 we would expect a fully
executed release.”

16] On June 4, 2020, in an email to Giordano. | stated that, according to my

calculations, I was owed approximately $17,630 for my credit cases.

{171 On June 3, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated that Respondent
was “not negotiating,” and that Respondent “feells]™ that $10.1235 “is beyond fair and more than
what [Respondent] ha[s) m do.”

[18] On June 5. 2020, in an email from Amber Adams (female), Human

Resources Manager. she stated the following: “Pursuant to the e-mail dated 5/19/20 from

Jennifer Heinz, attached is a copy of cheek and corresponding statement for all fees earned 5/31
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or prior. These are being mailed today. Moving forward., you will be paid on any cases in which
you are the identified as the credit attorney, and as those fees are received by the finm.”

o On or about June 7. 2020, 1 received a check for $1,862.98, representing a
portion of the referral credit fees 1 was owed on cases between March and May 2020,

[20] On June 11, 2020, in an email from Giordano, he stated the following:
“Attached you find a general refease. Please review it and if acceptable, sign and return. As
soon as we receive it the check for $10.125.00, as we discussed, will be sent,”

[21] On June 11,2020, in an email 1o Giordano. 1 asked why | was being asked
to sign a release agreement, and why the release was general and not specific to the fees issue. |
stated that these fees were payments owed to me per my contract, and that the amount that
Respondent was offering rknze was less than the amount that | was owed.

[22] On June 11,2020, in a response einail from Giordano, he stated that
Respondent was “simply protecting” itself,

[23]  Irefused to sign the agreement that would release my claims against
Respondent in exchange for money | had earmed and was owed.

[24] Giordano told that, moving forward, I should “not hesitate to reach out to
[him] directly.”

[257 The male attorney who Respondent terminated when | was terminated was
paid and is conlinuing to be paid fees he earned and was owed by Respondent, without having to
sign a release agreement.

126] Respondent instructed me 1o sign a release agreement in exchange for

paying me fees that [ am owed because of my sex.
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127] On June 18, 2020, 1 filed my first Complaint with the PHRC against
Respondent.
28] received no further payments on any cases in which | was identified as

the ¢redit attorney, despite my understanding that fees in such cases were received by
Respondent and owed to me on an ongoing basis.

{29] On September 16, 2020, in an email to Giordano. | followed up regarding
additional fees that I was owed by Respondent.

{30] On September 16, 2020. in a response email from Giordano. he stated that
he had lorwarded my email to Respondent’s attorney.

[31] On October 14, 2020, in an email to (’fiiorcjlan(), I again followed up on the
fees that I was owed by Respondent.

[32] On October 15,2020, in a response email from Giordano, he stated the
following: “{Wie will forward your email to our counsel. As you havé Tled a lawsuit against us,
I'suggest that you direct all communications for our Firm through your attorney.”

331 On October 28, 2020. in an email to Giordano, copying Heinz, 1 stated the
folfowing: *This is money that is owed to me. which [ was told would be paid to me, and to not
pay it is a violation of the PA Wage Pavment and Collection Law. Demand is made under that
law. via this email, to pay the money to me immediately. To not pay me the money because |
filed a sex discrimination claim with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission is unlawlul
retaliation.”

{34] On October 28. 2020, in a response email from Giordano, he stated the
following: *{Wle sent your email to our attorney Melissa Atkins. She will be in touch with your

attorney.”
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(951
i

Respondent failed to pay me fees that [ am owed because of my sex and/or
my sex discrimination complaints.

{36} Respondent’s sex discriminatory and retaliatory comments and conduiet
toward me have caused me emotional distress.

[537] Respondent’s comments and conduct evidence a bias against female
employees and/or employees who engage in protected activity.

B. Based on the aforementioned. T allege that Respondent has discriminated against
me because of my sex (female) and retaliated against me because of my sex discrimination
complaints. in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §
2000e¢, ¢f seq. (“Title V™), the Pennsylvania Human Relations Act; as amended, 43 P.S.§ 951,
el weg. ("PHRA™). and the Philadelphia Fair Practices Ordinance, Phila. Code § 9-1101, ¢7 seq.
(*PFPO™).

4. The aliegations in Paragraph 3 hereof constitute unlawful discriminatory and
retaliatory practices in violation of:
». Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (Act of October 27, 1955, P.L.

744, as amended) Section 5 Subsection{(s): _ (a}; (d)

Section 3.1 Subsection(s)

Section 5.2 Subsection(s)

Pennsylvania Fair Educational Opportunities Act (Act of July 17, 1961,

P.L. 766, as amended) Section 4 Subsection(s)

5., Other action based upon the aforesaid allegations has been instituted by the
Complainant in any court or before any other commission within the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania as follows:
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X This charge will be referred to the EEQC for the purpose of dual
filing.
6. The Complainant seeks that Respondent be required to:

(a) Make the Complainant whole.

(b) Eliminate all unlawful diseriminatory and retaliatory practice(s) and procedure(s).

(¢) Remedy the discriminatory and retaliatory effect of past practice(s) and
procedure(s),

{d) Take further affinmative action necessary and appropriate to remedy the violation
complained ol herein.

(€) Provide such further relief as the Commission deems necessary and appropriate.
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EEOC Form 161-B {11/2020) U.S. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY COMMISSION

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUE (/SSUED ON REQUEST)

From: Philadelphia District Office
801 Market Street
Suite 1000
Philadelphia, PA 19107

To: Maureen Cassid

|:| On behalf of person(s) aggrieved whose identity is
CONFIDENTIAL (29 CFR §1601.7(a))

EEQOC Charge No. EEOC Representative Telephone No

Damon A. Johnson,
17F-2020-61308 State, Local & Tribal Program Manager (267) 589-9722

(See also the additional information enclosed with this form.)
NOTICE TO THE PERSON AGGRIEVED:

Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), or the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination
Act (GINA): This is your Notice of Right to Sue, issued under Title VII, the ADA or GINA based on the above-numbered charge. It has
been issued at your request. Your lawsuit under Title VII, the ADA or GINA must be filed in a federal or state court WITHIN 90 DAYS
of your receipt of this notice; or your right to sue based on this charge will be lost. (The time limit for filing suit based on a claim under
state law may be different.)

More than 180 days have passed since the filing of this charge.

Less than 180 days have passed since the filing of this charge, but | have determined that it is unlikely that the EEOC will
be able to complete its administrative processing within 180 days from the filing of this charge.

The EEOC is terminating its processing of this charge.

The EEOC will continue to process this charge.

HERNE

Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA): You may sue under the ADEA at any time from 60 days after the charge was filed until
90 days after you receive notice that we have completed action on the charge. In this regard, the paragraph marked below applies to
your case:

]

The EEOC is closing your case. Therefore, your lawsuit under the ADEA must be filed in federal or state court WITHIN
90 DAYS of your receipt of this Notice. Otherwise, your right to sue based on the above-numbered charge will be lost.

The EEOC is continuing its handling of your ADEA case. However, if 60 days have passed since the filing of the charge,
you may file suit in federal or state court under the ADEA at this time.

]

Equal Pay Act (EPA): You already have the right to sue under the EPA (filing an EEOC charge is not required.) EPA suits must be brought
in federal or state court within 2 years (3 years for willful violations) of the alleged EPA underpayment. This means that backpay due for
any violations that occurred more than 2 years (3 years) before you file suit may not be collectible.

If you file suit, based on this charge, please send a copy of your court complaint to this office.

On behalf of the Commission

/ '/ -
(‘ZMQ h/ g A — January 10, 2022

Enclosures(s) J{mie R. Williamson, (Date Issued)
District Director

cc For Respondent: For Charging Party:
Jenna R. Mathias, Esq. Emily R. Derstine Friesen
BUNKER & RAY Console Mattiacci Law, LLC
436 Walnut Street, WA01A derstinefriesen@consolelaw.com

Philadelphia, PA 19106



